IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC08-146

LOWER COURT CASE NO. CF90-224-2A1-XX

DAVID JOSEPH PITTMAN

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT

OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARTIN McCLAIN Florida Bar No. 0754773 McClain & McDermott, P.A. 141 N.E. 30th Street Wilton Manors, FL 33334 (305) 984-8344

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

${\tt INTRODUCTION}^{1}$

This is a case of innocence. Mr. Pittman did not commit the murders for which he stands convicted. In constructing its case and presenting it to the jury, the State withheld from the defense a wealth of favorable information which would have impeached its witnesses and supported the theory of the defense. The wealth of undisclosed favorable information casts a whole new light on the case and undermines confidence in the reliability of the outcome. In addition to the wealth of undisclosed favorable information, Mr. Pittman presents newly discovered evidence which demonstrates his innocence. This new evidence, as law enforcement conceded at the evidentiary hearing, was and is

Other references will be self-explanatory or explained herein.

¹This proceeding involves the appeal of the denial of Mr. Pittman's motion for postconviction relief. The following abbreviations will be utilized to cite to the record in this appeal, with appropriate page number(s) following the abbreviation:

[&]quot;R. ___." - record on direct appeal to this Court;

[&]quot;PC-R. ___." - record on appeal from the denial of postconviction relief;

[&]quot;PC-RE. ___." - separately paginated record containing exhibits admitted during the evidentiary hearing.

²During the postconviction evidentiary hearing, the trial prosecutor, Hardy Pickard, testified that "where the defense went or was trying to show that Mr. Pittman's wife, or ex-wife [Barbara Marie Pittman], and her new husband [Allen Pridgen] could have committed the crime rather than him" (PC-R. 3972).

³Mr. Pittman testified on his own behalf. He not only asserted his innocence, but explained that his hysterical reaction when he first learned of the fire at his in-law's house was because he feared for his children - "my children, my kids, stayed at the Knowles' house, their grandmother and grandfather's house 95 percent of their lives" (R. 3842).

inconsistent with the State's theory of the case and with Mr. Pittman's guilt.⁴ This new evidence which the State did not challenge or rebut, when considered cumulatively with the <u>Brady</u> material and other evidence developed in follow up investigation, shows that Mr. Pittman likely would have been acquitted had this new evidence and the withheld evidence been heard by the jury.

As the trial record shows, it was at or about 3:10 AM on May 15, 1990, that David Hess, a newspaper distributor, first saw a burst of red light in the distant sky while making his rounds delivering newspapers (R. 1144-5, 1152). He believed that it was the glow of a large fire. He was later able to determine that he had been some distance from the fire, may be two miles.

⁴This new evidence includes HRS records and testimony showing that Barbara Marie Pridgen, formerly Pittman, advised HRS officials in 1998 that Cindy Pittman, her daughter with Mr. Pittman, had witnessed the murder of "her grandmother by her uncle" (PC-R. 3460-62, 3471; PC-RE 681). The trial prosecutor acknowledged in his testimony that Cindy Pittman's presence at the scene and observation of her grandmother's murder was "inconsistent" with his theory of prosecution (PC-R. 3972).

The State did not contest the accuracy of the HRS records showing that Barbara Marie Pridgen had advised HRS officials that four-year old Cindy Pittman had witnessed her grandmother's murder. Even though Barbara Marie Pridgen was in the hallway waiting outside the courtroom, the State did not call her to dispute that she had in fact reported to HRS personnel that Cindy had witnessed her grandmother's murder (PC-R. 5266).

⁵Mr. Hess testified that he was "pretty sure it was right around ten minutes after three" that he first saw a flash of red light in the sky (R. 1152). On direct appeal, this Court noted that Mr. Hess saw the burst of flame "shortly after 3:00 a.m. on May 15, 1990." Pittman v. State, 646 So. 2d 167, 168 (Fla. 1994). Mr. Hess said that he was "[p]robably two miles or less" from the scene of the fire when he first noticed it (R. 1145). Mr. Hess "didn't stop to call or anything" because he assumed "some emergency vehicles would have been summoned" (R. 1145-6).

The Mulberry Fire Department was dispatched to the fire at 3:32 AM (R. 1263). They arrived at the scene of the fire at 3:46 AM (R. 1264).⁶ At that time, "the living room area that was pretty much what we considered fully involved" (R. 1265).⁷ A minute or two after the firefighters arrived "we encountered an explosion that took part of the living room roof down and blew out the front part of the wall" (R. 1267). Once the fire was under control, a search of the house began. During this search, three bodies were discovered (R. 1269-72). They were the remains of Clarence and Barbara Knowles and their 20-year old daughter, Bonnie.⁸ All three were dead before the fire started (R. 1521).

After examining the scene that the fire, the state fire marshal's office determined that the fire was incendiary in nature. "A flammable liquid [was] poured on the floor" of the residence (R. 1462). The length of time that the fire burned

 $^{^6{\}rm The}$ structure burning was located at 500 NE $4^{\rm th}$ Street in Mulberry (R. 1263). It was "a wood frame, single story, single family" residence (R. 1265).

⁷This Court noted on direct appeal that "[w]hen authorities investigated they found the home of Clarence and Barbara Knowles fully engulfed by fire." Pittman, 646 So. 2d at 168.

⁸David Pittman was at the time the estranged husband of the Knowles' older daughter, Barbara Marie. David and Barbara Marie were the parents of three young children who normally were living with their maternal grandparents, Clarence and Barbara Knowles at 500 NE 4th St. (R. 2074; PC-R. 3977; PC-RE. 850, 857). The children were Cindy Pittman - DOB 1/13/86, Robin Pittman - DOB 3/17/87, and Wendy Pittman - DOB 12/27/88 (PC-RE 678).

⁹A detective with the Polk County Sheriff's Office opined that a flammable liquid was poured throughout the living room and into a hallway (R. 1384). It was determined that there was a good "possibility" that the flammable liquid was poured on furniture in the living room (R. 1384). There was also a fire trail that

before it was visible in the night sky could not be determined. According to the deputy fire marshal who investigated, "[i]f the fire was started shortly before discovery, the amount of damage done would indicate there was a substantial amount of flammable liquid poured. If the fire was started a half hour before discovery, then there may have just been enough flammable liquid used to get the normal combustibles in the living room burning."

(R. 1469). 10 Thus, the longer the time taken to obtain and pour a large quantity of the flammable liquid, the faster the fire. Conversely, the less time taken to obtain and the flammable liquid, the slower the fire progressed.

A medical examiner examined the bodies and found that Bonnie Knowles had been fatally stabbed eight times. Six of the wounds were sufficiently serious to have caused death on their own.

Together they caused massive bleeding and a rapid death (R. 1515-16). The burning of Bonnie's body occurred postmortem (R. 1511).

In his examination of Barbara Knowles' body, the medical examiner found three stab wounds - one to the neck and two in the chest. The two wounds to the chest "were fatal" (R. 1519).

Death would have been fairly rapid, "maximum five minutes",

came out of the residence (R. 1472). This trailer extended "[a]pproximately 15 feet" (R. 1400).

The bedroom in which Bonnie Knowles was found contained the heaviest damage (R. 1386). This was because "an automobile tire had been placed under the approximate center" of the bed (R. 1387). This caused the fire to burn very hot in that bedroom.

¹⁰The "half hour before discovery" reference by the deputy fire marshal would place the start of the fire at 2:40 AM.

because they hit the aorta (R. 1519). The burning of Barbara's body also occurred postmortem (R. 1517).

In his examination of Clarence's body, the medical examiner found five stab wounds (R. 1521). One wound was superficial; the other four penetrated the pleural cavity and were lethal (R. 1521). As with Barbara, Clarence would have died from massive bleeding "within minutes" (R. 1522). The burns to the body would have been postmortem because there was no "soot in his airways, and blood test was negative" (R. 1521). 11

From his observations of the lividity in the bodies of Barbara and Clarence, the medical examiner was able to determine that the time of death was probably after 7:15 PM on May 14th (R. 1526). Barbara's stomach contents included semi-digested rice and green beans (R. 1558). The medical examiner indicated that the food found in Barbara's stomach was of the kind that should be digested within two to four hours of its consumption (R. 1558). So her death would have occurred within two to fours hours of the time that she ate the rice and green beans still identifiable in her stomach at the time of her death.

At trial, the witnesses called by the State established that Mr. Pittman was in the presence of others who could vouch for his whereabouts up until 2:30 AM on the morning of May 15, 1991. 12

¹¹Since soot was not found in the victims' airways nor elevated levels of carbon monoxide detected, none of the victims were alive at the time of the fire (R. 1539). Each had stopped breathing by the time the fire was set. However, there was no way to determine how long they had been dead when the fire began.

 $^{^{12}}$ The State called Mr. Pittman's stepsister, Bobbie Jo Pittman, who testified that on May 14, 1990, the day before the homicides, she received a call from David Pittman some time before 3:00 PM

From 2:30 AM until 3:30 AM, no one was with David and able to vouch for his whereabouts. 13 It was in that one hour period that the State argued that Mr. Pittman committed the murders. Since

(R. 2061). David asked her to pick him up at Bob Barker's house in Plant City, where he had been staying, so he could spend the night at his stepdad's residence. She picked him up and they got back to their dad's house in Mulberry at around "4:00 or 4:30" (R. 2063). Later, they went to a store to call Barker and invite him to "party" with them (R. 2033). They then went to a "Party Discount" store before returning to their dad's residence (R. 2033, 2064). Between 7:00 and 8:00, Tammy Davis joined Bobby Jo and David (R. 2065). Bobbie Jo and Tammy briefly left to get gas for Tammy's car (R. 2035). They left Bobbie Jo's baby with David who was talking on the phone with his girlfriend, Carrie (R. 2066). After they returned, Bobbie Jo, Tammy and David, sat around watching TV and drinking beer (R. 2035). Later, Bobbie Jo and David drove to the store to call Barker again (R. 2035). They couldn't reach him, so they went back to their dad's house. They along with Tammy then drove to Barker's house in Plant City (R. 2037). They arrived at around 9:30 (R. 2067). They stayed between 30 minutes and an hour (R. 2067). They drove around a bit before going home. They got back to the house a little after 11:00 PM (R. 2068). Bobbie Jo watched TV, while David and Tammy sat outside talking (R. 2038). When Tammy left, David went inside and tried to help Bobbie Jo get her baby to sleep (R. 2069). Once that was accomplished, she and David watched TV until 2:30 AM when she went to bed (R. 2039, 2070). She left David laying on the couch watching TV (R. 2039-40).

¹³Eugene Pittman, David's stepfather, was called by the State and testified that he left work at "about 25 till 3:00 that morning" (R. 2093). He got home around 3 AM. David was not on the couch at that time (R. 2094). The door to his bedroom was locked (R. Eugene did not knock or otherwise check to see if David was sleeping in the bedroom. Eugene went to his bedroom to sleep, but he lay awake (R. 2095). He heard noises - "It sounded like I heard somebody walking in the house so I got up to go look" (R. 2096). "Well, when I heard something I got up and walked into my living room and didn't see anything. I thought I saw something go by my window. I seen an image go by the window, you know" (R. 2096). Eugene then went back to bed. He again heard something "so I got up to look again" (R. 2097). But again, he did not see anything. So, he went back to bed. he got up again and saw "David coming out of this back bedroom" (R. 2097). It was close to 3:30 AM (R. 2099). David looked tousled-up, like he was sleepy (R. 2116).

the red glow from the fire was seen two miles away at 3:10 AM, this left a forty minute window according to the State for Mr. Pittman to walk from his father's house to the Knowles' home, enter the house, stab three people to death, get a flammable liquid, pour it through the house, set the fire, and have it grow so large as to be visible two miles away.

Trial counsel focused on the virtual impossibility that Mr.

Pittman could have committed the murders and set the fire in this narrow time window. In his closing, counsel argued:

But even assuming that the killings occurred shortly before the fire started, there are a number of different events that would have occurred in order for that to have happened.

The killings themselves would have taken time, the cutting of the phone wires would have taken time, getting to the area would have taken time. And when you start comparing how long the events that led up to the crime occurred, how long it took for the person to commit the crimes, their after-the-fact actions, common sense tells you this wasn't something that happened that quickly like that (demonstrating) instantaneously.

* * *

If David had done it within the time period that you will see demonstrated over here on this side of the chart, he would have had from about 2:30 to 3:00 o'clock to do all the things I described. It takes 13 minutes to walk from the Pittman residence to the Knowles house.

(R. 4052-54). Given the virtually impossible time parameters, the State's case came to rest upon the testimony of two jailhouse informants - David Pounds and Carl Hughes. 14

 $^{^{14}}$ Robert Norgard, Mr. Pittman's trial counsel, testified in 2006 that but for Carl Hughes and David Pounds, the State's case was entirely circumstantial as there was no physical evidence tying Mr. Pittman to the homicides (PC-R. 4126).

David Pounds, age 29, was a habitual offender who testified that when he was in jail with Mr. Pittman, he heard him say, "the people that I killed," then changed it to "the people they say I killed" (R. 1895). He alleged that he heard Mr. Pittman admit to the crime but claimed that "they" could not "pin" it on him (R. 1897). Pounds indicated that he was interviewed by the police on June 4, 1990, but provided no information. He merely inquired what benefit he might obtain (R. 1901-02). On June 5, 1990, Pounds left the county jail when the Department of Corrections took custody of him so that he could begin serving the life sentence that he had received (R. 1905). He then had his mother contact the police and let them know that he wanted to speak with them about Mr. Pittman (R. 1935). The police re-interviewed him on June 25, 1990, and Pounds gave a taped statement in which he claimed that Mr. Pittman had made a statement in which he used the phrase, "the people I killed" (R. 1935).

However, a wealth of significant impeaching information concerning Pounds was not disclosed to the defense. 16 This

 $^{^{15}\}text{Mr.}$ Pittman testified that he did not remember Pounds and did not think that he had ever spoken to him (R. 3889-90).

¹⁶An undisclosed PSI prepared in April of 1990 for Pounds' sentencing on May 9th, indicated that Pounds was suffering from visual and auditory hallucinations. Reference was made to the fact that Pounds "heard voices talking to him" (PC-RE. 1002). The PSI indicated that as a result Pounds was receiving psychotropic medications - Vistaril, Tifferal, and Thorazine (PC-RE. 1002). The PSI indicated that Pounds was in need of mental health treatment which he would receive in prison. The DOC medical file for Pounds included notes from mental health interviews on June 12 and June 26, 1990. These notes reflected Pounds' fragile mental condition in June of 1990(PC-RE. 1092-93). Pounds had suffered a relapse of a major depression that included psychotic features (PC-R. 4053). It was also noted that Pounds

undisclosed information clearly shows that Pounds was totally unbelievable, and that the State investigated and learned during Mr. Pittman's trial that a significant detail Pounds included in his June 25th statement was not true.

At the time of trial, Carl Hughes was an inmate at a New York federal penitentiary. 17 He testified that he shared a cell with Mr. Pittman at the Polk County Jail from June 20-27, 1990

had been secretly spitting out the psychotropic medication that he had been receiving in county jail (PC-RE. 1093).

Also undisclosed were a police officer's handwritten notes of an interview that he conducted of Pounds on June 19, 1990, at 9:07 AM (PC-R. 3486; PC-RE. 729). This conflicted with Pounds' trial testimony that he was interviewed just twice, on June 4th and June 25th. It was clear from Pounds' trial testimony that between his June 4th statement and his June 25th statement, his story had substantially changed. The existence of an undisclosed interview on June 19th provided Pounds with a time and date to obtain the information he included in his June 25th statement.

The existence of an undisclosed June 19th interview also dovetails with additional information that was kept from the defense. In the June 25th taped statement, Pounds identified Carl Hughes as another individual that shared the same pod in jail with himself and Mr. Pittman. However, jail records obtained by the State in the middle of Mr. Pittman's trial showed that Pounds was only in the same pod as Mr. Pittman between May 18th and 21st (PC-RE. 869). The records also show that Pounds and Hughes were never together and did not share a pod with Mr. Pittman at the same time (PC-R. 3912-14). Pounds left the jail on June 5th. Hughes was not placed with Mr. Pittman until June 20th (R. 2359). The name Carl Hughes could have been provided to Pounds on June 19th to include in his June 25th statement to justify the June 26th interview of Hughes regarding Mr. Pittman. Otherwise, there is no explanation for why Pounds indicated that Hughes was present.

¹⁷Carl Hughes had been the director of operations for the Lakeland Housing Authority and served on the Southeast Council for Public Housing representing the State of Florida (R. 2247). In connection with his work he was charged in federal and state courts with numerous counts of bribery and grand theft (R. 2246). Hughes described his legal difficulties as "white collar crime, I wasn't out here with drug charges or murder charges, there was basically no victims except an agency" (R. 2286).

(R. 1895). 18 He claimed that he was first contacted by law enforcement on June 26, 1990, after he had his wife, Kathie Anders, contact Randy Dey, an FDLE agent, on his behalf. 19 Hughes said that he had called his wife and "asked her if she had heard anything about [Pittman's murder case] and she said no. So

¹⁸Hughes had been convicted in federal court of bribery and falsifying a firearms application. He pled guilty in federal court as part of a plea agreement on May 23, 1990 (R. 2305). federal sentencing occurred on August 3, 1990 (R. 2321). At the federal sentencing, Randy Dey, an FDLE agent, spoke to the presiding judge at a side bar and advised the judge that Hughes "had been cooperating" (R. 2321). However, Hughes claimed he [did]n't know the whole extent of what was said there" (R. 2321). He was also convicted in Polk County of seventeen counts of bribery and grand theft (R. 2286-2294). After facing an 85-year sentence, he received eighteen months in federal prison to be served concurrently with 4 1/2 years in state prison (R. 2247, The state court sentencing occurred on September 26, 1990 (R. 2323). On October 6, 1990, Hughes wrote the state prosecutor a letter and thanked him. As Hughes explained at trial, "I was quite aware that David Bergdoll [the state court prosecutor] had done a reversal in the extent that [the sentence] wasn't 85 years" (R. 2324). However, Hughes was adamant in his testimony at Mr. Pittman's trial that he had not received any consideration for his testimony against Mr. Pittman - "never was there any treatment, fair treatment not fair - - not any downward departures of my sentence given me" (R. 2333). In fact, he claimed that he received harsher treatment and a worse sentence than he otherwise would have received "to give the State credibility so that I could get on this stand today and you not be successful in convincing the jury that I did this for a motive" (R. 2334). Hughes told the jury that "[v]ery simply, I will end up doing three - - I've already done twice what anybody else would do. I'm going to end up doing three times that amount" (R. 2335).

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