IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID JOSEPH PITTMAN,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. SC08-146
L.T. No. CF90-2242A1-XX
DEATH PENALTY CASE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM
ATTORNEY GENERAL

KATHERINE V. BLANCO
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0327832
Concourse Center 4
3507 Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607
Phone: (813) 287-7900
Fax: (813) 281-5500
katherine.blanco@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The William Smith Sub-Claim

William Smith, who lived near the Majik Market on Highway 60, testified that between 6:30 and 6:45 a.m. on May 15th, he saw a homemade wrecker come to a stop behind the store. (DA-R 1793). It was dark blue or black with booms, and orange primer coat on the right front fender of the hood. A white male got out of the vehicle and picked up a five gallon gas can, shook it on the ground and set it back in the truck. (DA-R 1795). Later on the 6:00 television news, Mr. Smith saw the guy who had been arrested and he told his wife that it was the same person that he had seen earlier that day. (DA-R 1801). Smith also viewed photographs of the wrecker and the gas can.⁹ The State did not advise the defense of

⁹ On direct appeal, this Court noted, "another witness [Smith] testified that he saw a homemade wrecker stop near his house in the early morning hours on the day of the murders; that the driver, whom he later identified as Pittman, got out of the wrecker, shook out the contents of a gas can, returned to the wrecker and then drove off. This witness [Smith] first identified the wrecker several weeks after the murders from a photo-pack that included photographs of Pittman's wrecker only. . . . The first and second

the ASA's instructions to Detective Coper. As this Court noted in Carroll v. State, 815 So. 2d 601, 620 (Fla. 2002), the prosecution is not required to provide the defendant all information regarding its investigatory work on a particular case regardless of its relevancy or materiality. At pages 86-88 of his initial brief, Pittman claims that the State's case was circumstantial, except for Hughes and Pounds. In other words, the State presented direct evidence at trial. The State also presented three additional witnesses [Caves, Taylor, and Hunter] who testified regarding Pittman's threats of harm to his in-laws. As in Jones v. State, 998 So. 2d 573, 581-582 (Fla. 2008), there was more than one witness to testify about Pittman's incriminating admissions and confessions. Pittman failed to show a reasonable probability that had the alleged additional impeachment been disclosed, the result of the proceeding would have been different; the trial court further evaluated Pittman's intertwined claims cumulatively and correctly denied relief. (PCR V34/5394; 5400).

The Misleading Conduct Claim

Next, at page 90 of his initial brief, Pittman asserts a purported Giglio claim based on a shotgun barrage of perfunctory allegations. Giglio involves a prosecutor's knowing presentation, at trial, of false testimony against the defendant. Giglio, 405

witnesses [Waters and Smith] had a sufficient opportunity to view the wrecker and had given fairly accurate descriptions before the in-person identification." Pittman v. State, 646 So. 2d 167, 171 (Fla. 1994)

U.S. at 154-55. Pittman summarily alleges that the following was allegedly false: Hughes' trial testimony that he "was given no favors" (DA-R 2337); that Hughes allegedly gave no interviews between June 26 and September 11 [although Hughes stated at trial that "I gave, I think, three different statements: one written, one off tape, and one taped." (DA-R 2374)]; FDLE Agent Randy Dey's deposition and Detective Cosper's deposition - that Hughes' taped statement on September 11th was Hughes' second one; the State's argument that Pittman and his ex-wife's parents had "bad blood" between them; Dennis Waters' positive identification of the homemade wrecker he saw on the morning of May 15th; and information the State provided to the defense as to Aaron Gibbons' address and availability.

Pittman's conclusory allegations of alleged falsity are insufficient to fairly preserve any claim for review; and the State strongly disputes Pittman's mischaracterizations of the foregoing as allegedly false testimony. Pittman was afforded more than a week of evidentiary hearings and he failed to prove any of his alleged Giglio violations. Moreover, the foregoing individual allegations were addressed within Pittman's prior claims and rejected as meritless. And, in denying post-conviction claim II, the trial court again explained:

In his Motion, the defense alleges that State witness, Carl Hughes's testimony was less than truthful regarding his relationship with the State. The Defendant alleges that Mr. Hughes made statements that he was going to attempt to get statements from Mr. Pittman and that

doing so was part of the a deal with the State that existed prior to his placement with Mr. Pittman. The Defendant alleges that Mr. Hughes decided not to go through with his testimony but was coerced into doing so when the State threatened to prosecute him and a family member unless he went through with the deal. The defense alleges that an interview Mr. Hughes had with Detective Cosper on July 6, 1990 was never disclosed to the defense. This matter is fully discussed by the Court under Claim I. The Defendant also alleges that the State violated Mr. Pittman's due process rights by allowing Mr. Hughes to testify that he had been advised by other inmates that Mr. Pittman talked about this case nonstop and indicated to some inmates that he may have done it. The Defendant claims that the State knew that this wasn't the case; and they failed to disclose that they knew that another inmate, Elton Ard, had indicated that Mr. Pittman had never given an indication that he had killed anyone. The Court does not find that this allegation has any merit, and it was not supported by the defense at the evidentiary hearing.

The Defendant alleges that to the extent the new evidence regarding Mr. Hughes was not disclosed by the State, due process was violated. In addition, the Defendant alleges that to the extent trial counsel failed to discover the information with regard to Mr. Hughes, Mr. Pittman received ineffective assistance of counsel. The Court does not find that the new information concerning Mr. Hughes supports a conclusion that confidence in the verdict has been weakened or undermined. In addition, the Court does not find that the Defendant has supported a conclusion that trial counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.

(PCR V34/5395-5396).

The IAC Sub-Claim

At pages 92-94 of his initial brief, Pittman concludes that his experienced trial attorneys, Mr. Norgard and Mr. Trogolo, were ineffective in failing to obtain Pounds' PSI, contact inmate John Schneider in person, elicit from James Troup that, even though

there was smoke inside the Toyota, it was not yet coming out of the car, and dispute Waters level of certainty in identifying the homemade wrecker.

At trial, Mr. Troup testified that he saw a car on fire on Prairie Mine Road at around 6:30 a.m. (DA-R 1283). In denying the IAC sub-claim (based on the failure to elicit testimony from Troup that he did not see smoke coming from the vehicle to allegedly impeach the observations of Barbara Davis¹⁰), the trial court found no deficiency; and, even assuming any deficiency, there was "no reasonable basis to assume that but for such deficient performance, the result of the proceeding would have been different." (PCR V34/5403). In short, the jury already knew that Troup did not see anyone around the burning car. (DA-R 1290-91).

With regard to the failure to contact inmate John Schneider in

10 Barbara Davis identified Pittman as the man next to the passenger side of the burning car and who came up the embankment at a "jog-like" pace. Ms. Davis lived in an apartment on Prairie Mine Road next to where the Toyota was abandoned and burned. (DA-R 1699-1700). At approximately 6:40 a.m. on the morning of the fire, Ms. Davis was outside picking roses when she saw a ball of smoke. (DA-R 1702-03). When Ms. Davis subsequently approached the location of the fire, she saw a man coming up the embankment from beside the car. (DA-R 1704-05). The man was right next to the passenger side of the car - an inch or two away from it. (DA-R 1704) The man went across the parking lot, taking "big steps at record speed." (DA-R 1705) Ms. Davis saw the right side of the man's face; she described him as a white male with acne or indents in his face, a long and pointed nose, and dirty blonde hair hanging down on his head. (DA-R 1705; 1711-1712; 1714). Later that day, the police took her to Bartow where she identified Pittman's photo from two separate photo-packs; the first group of photos were front view only and the second group were right side profile photographs. (DA-R 1714-16; 1720). Ms. Davis also identified Pittman in court. (DA-R 1 719).

person, trial counsel, Mr. Norgard, testified that Schneider¹¹ was not contacted (in person) at the time of trial because Schneider's attorney informed the Public Defender's investigator that Schneider was afraid and Schneider didn't want to talk to them. Strickland mandates an evaluation of the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. 466 U.S. at 689. Further, "[t]here is no reasonable basis to assume that but for such deficient performance, the result of the proceeding would have been different." (PCR V34/5403).

None of Pittman's IAC allegations satisfy Strickland. Pittman was represented by experienced capital defense attorneys who were zealous advocates on Pittman's behalf. The trial court correctly found that Pittman failed to establish any deficiency of counsel; and, even assuming deficient performance, there was no reasonable probability that the result of the proceedings would have been different. (PCR V34/5405).

The "Alleged Newly Discovered" Evidence Claim

Pittman alleged below that his daughter, Cindy (when she was 4 years old), was a witness to the Knowles' homicides and that the murders were committed by Harry Earl Wilson [victim Barbara Knowles' brother-in-law] or someone other than David Pittman. The trial court ruled that the alleged Brady and newly discovered evidence claims relating to Harry Earl Wilson were unsupported at

11 At the post-conviction hearing, Schneider testified that he saw Hughes going through Pittman's papers on two occasions, and that inmates in the jail had access to newspapers.

the post-conviction hearing and deemed abandoned. (PCR V34/5383). And, Marie's hearsay statement to Carlos Battles in 1998, eight years after the murders, that Cindy needed counseling for sexual abuse and Cindy "witnessed her grandmother being killed by her brother-in-law"¹², did not constitute any basis for relief under Jones. As the trial court explained:

This claim of newly discovered evidence involves hearsay statements from Marie Pridgen given to a Mr. Battles in 1998. Cindy Pittman was four years old when her grandparents were murdered in 1990, and the statement Marie made to DCF investigators was eight years after the murders. Mr. Battles testified that he never questioned Cindy about the allegation, and he had no idea if the child actually saw a murder. Detective Cospers testified at the evidentiary hearing that Marie Pittman never told him that Cindy had witnessed the murders. The Court finds no credible basis that this information meets the Jones requirements as newly discovered evidence. In particular, the Court does not find that this evidence is of such a nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial.

(PCR V34/5384).

At page 96 of his initial brief, Pittman relies on his belated discovery of an allegedly "newly discovered" hearsay witness, Chasity Eagan. The trial court emphasized its "concerns regarding the timeliness of the Defendant's Second Amendment, and it is the

12 Pittman admits that Battles' notation of Marie's hearsay statements eight years after the murders - that Cindy (when she was 4 years old) purportedly witnessed "her grandmother being killed by her brother-in-law" - is unclear. (Initial Brief at 95, fn. 110). Victim Barbara Knowles' brother-in-law was Harry Wilson - the same man that Pittman's post-conviction motion suggested as the killer. Battles own conclusory reference to "her" uncle could mean either Marie's uncle [Harry Wilson] or Cindy's uncle [either her Pittman uncle[s] or Pridgen uncle].

Court's opinion that it is untimely and procedurally barred based on the defense's admission that it did have knowledge of Ms. Eagan prior to the May 2006 evidentiary hearing." (PCR V34/5393). The trial court allowed Pittman's belated amendment, conducted an additional evidentiary hearing on the alleged "newly discovered" hearsay witness, Chastity Eagan (PCR V34/5392-5393), and concluded:

even if the testimony of Ms. Eagan could not have been discovered earlier by counsel through the exercise of due diligence, the Court finds that the evidence provided by Ms. Eagan does not meet the newly discovered evidence standard, because it is not of such a character as to probably produce an acquittal on retrial. Ms. Eagan's testimony involves hearsay statements that would likely have not been admissible at trial, except possibly for impeachment purposes. Ms. Eagan was 13 years old at the time she allegedly heard the statement by Marie Pridgen, and this was approximately 17 years ago. The statement Ms. Eagan heard from Marie Pridgen does not constitute an admission, confession, or statement of any material nature. The statement Ms. Eagan allegedly heard David Pridgen make while he had been drinking at a Halloween party approximately 15 years ago seems likely to have had something to do with his experiences in the Gulf War, and nothing whatsoever to do with the murders of the Knowles.

* * *

. . . The Court does not find any reasonable probability that the new evidence argued by the Defendant in this Claim when considered cumulatively along with information detailed in Claims II and III would have made a difference in the outcome of the verdict. Claim I of Defendant's Motion is denied.

(PCR V34/5382-5394). (e.s.)

The trial court correctly denied Pittman's claim of alleged "newly discovered" evidence. First, the defense failed to establish "due diligence" with regard to this belated hearsay

witness. Second, Chastity Eagan's hearsay testimony would be inadmissible as substantive evidence. Third, David Pridgen directly contradicted any innuendo of an alleged confession. David Pridgen had nothing to do with the Knowles' family murders on May 15, 1990. Eagan's inadmissible hearsay would not produce an acquittal under Jones.

Pittman was in jail from November 1988 (DA-R 3804) and released in January of 1990 (DA-R 3876); the three members of the Knowles family were murdered in May of 1990. In addition to Pittman's separate confessions to Hughes and Pounds, May 14th was the first night in years that Pittman had visited his father's house. (DA-R 3885). The bedrooms had doors that opened to the outside. (DA-R 2106). Debra Caves confirmed Pittman's threat to kill Marie and her family. (DA-R 2497). Both Johnny Taylor and Officer William Hunter also testified regarding Pittman's threats to kill his in-laws. (DA-R 2454; 2793). Pittman claimed that torching took care of any evidence (DA-R 2794, 95), and Pittman set fire to the car and house with use of an accelerant, which confirmed his prior threats to harm his in-laws and avoid apprehension. None of Pittman's current allegations, individually or cumulatively, warrant any relief.

ISSUE II

THE PENALTY PHASE CLAIMS UNDER BRADY, STRICKLAND and JONES.

Issue II of Pittman's initial brief, which totals three pages (Initial Brief at 97-100), summarily alleges penalty phase claims under Brady, Strickland/IAC, and Jones/newly discovered evidence. For the following reasons, the trial court's fact-specific order denying Pittman's penalty phase claims (PCR V34/5408-5412; 5420-5421; 5335; 5341) should be affirmed.

A. The Brady Claim

At pages 97-98 of his initial brief, Pittman declares his sweeping reliance on some unspecified Brady "information" that is "set forth in the preceding sections" of his Initial Brief. Pittman's attempt to incorporate additional "information" set forth *somewhere* in the preceding 96 pages of his 100-page Initial Brief is inadequate to preserve any penalty phase claim for review. Any unspecified Brady/penalty phase claims are waived. See, Kearse v. State, 969 So. 2d 976, 990 (Fla. 2007) (claims raised in conclusory fashion on post-conviction appeal were waived); Smith v. State, 931 So. 2d 790, 800 (Fla. 2006) (defendant's unspecified claim -- that the trial court allegedly precluded Smith from presenting "some evidence" on some of his Brady and Giglio claims - was vague and conclusory); Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990)

("Merely making reference to arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to have been waived.")

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